### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-189 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO.: 90-16062-CFA

CHADWICK WILLACY,

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CHADWICK WILLACY

# ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY THE HONORABL PRESTON SILVERNAIL PRESIDING

BRIAN N. ONEK Balgo, Onek & Mawn, P.A. 1329 Bedford Drive, Suite 1 Melbourne, Florida 32940 (321)751-9774 Fla. Bar No.: 0373079

ELIZABETH SIANO HARRIS Stadler & Harris, P.A. 1820 Garden Street Titusville, Florida 32796 (321) 264-8800 Fla. Bar. No.: 899720

Attorneys for Defendant Chadwick Willacy

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 1997, the Supreme Court of the United States denied Mr. Willacy certiorari review of this Court's decision upholding imposition of the death penalty. See Willacy v. Florida, 522 U.S. 970, 118 S.Ct. 419, 139 L.Ed.2d 321 (1997); Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970, 118 S.Ct. 419, 139 L.Ed.2d 321 (1997). Thereafter, the Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed on May 11, 1998. (R 2093-2122). An Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed on March 18, 2002, following public records requests. (R 2171-2218). In his Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, the Defendant raised thirty-one issues <sup>1</sup>.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The issues are, in short, as follows; 1) failure to consider all available defenses; 2) failure to investigate potentially exculpatory evidence; 3) state's failure to inform the trial court of juror Edward Clark's statutory ineligibility to serve as a juror; 4) waiver of the appointment of an independent counsel to litigate the issue of Juror Clark's pending felony charges; 5) failure to establish that Juror Clark was pending prosecution; 6) failure to object to an ineligible juror; 7) failure to inquire of Juror Clark regarding his eligibility; 8) the trial court applied an incorrect standard of law in denying the defendant's motion for new trial; 9) juror misconduct; 10) failure to fully and adequately prepare for trial; 11) failure to move for a timely disqualification of judge; 12) a meaningful Spencer hearing was not conducted; 13) failure to seek disqualification of the trial court based on the trial court's use of a sentencing order which had been prepared prior to the Spencer hearing; 14 & 15) failure to swear jurors prior to voir dire; 16) lack of probable cause for the defendant's arrest and the search of his home; 17) failure to object to evidence introduced at trial; 18) failure to instruct the jury on felony murder and the law of principal; 19) failure to request a special

In its September 24, 2003 order following the <u>Huff<sup>2</sup></u> hearing, the lower court denied relief on claims III, IV, V, VI, VIII, IX, XI, XII XIV, XV, XVI, XX, XXVI, XXVII, XXVIII, XXIX and XXX, and granted to an evidentiary hearing on the Defendant's remaining claims. (R 2294-2313).

An evidentiary hearing was held on December 3, 4, 5, 19, 2003 and February 16, 2004. The trial court denied all of the Defendant's remaining claims on November 19, 2004. (R 2545-4572). The Defendant filed a timely motion for rehearing, which was denied on December 17, 2004. (R 4573-4589; 4594-4595) This appeal timely followed.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying facts of the crime in this case are set forth in two prior opinions of this Court. See Willacy v. State, 640 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1994); Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1997). In Willacy v. State, 640 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1994), this Court affirmed the Defendant's conviction for first-

jury instruction and special verdict form pursuant to <u>Edmunds v. Florida</u>; 20) the 1995 penalty phase jury was not properly instructed on the law; 21 & 22) failure to present evidence of statutory mitigating circumstances; 23) failure to present non-statutory mitigating circumstances; 24) failure to present mental health testimony to rebut CCP aggravating factor; 25) waiver of presentence investigation report; 26) the indictment violated the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution; 27, 28 & 29) constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute; 30) constitutionality of death by lethal injection; 31) cumulative error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

degree murder, arson, burglary, but reversed the Defendant's sentence of death based on the trial court's failure to allow the defense the opportunity to rehabilitate a death-scrupled venire person. A second penalty phase proceeding was conducted in 1995. A sentence of death was again imposed, and later affirmed by this Court in Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1997).

During his 1991 trial, the Defendant was represented by attorney Kurt Erlenbach. At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Erlenbach testified that he had never conducted a first-degree murder case either as a prosecutor or a defense attorney. (R 634).

He testified that his theory of defense in this case was to eliminate any evidence he could through motions and then attempt to explain away the other evidence. (R 640). He characterized his defense as "try[ing] to shoot holes in the State's evidence." (R 652). Mr. Erlenbach acknowledged that he focused exclusively on eliminating evidence instead of looking for a plausible explanation for all the evidence. (R 743).

Mr. Erlenbach recognized that the Defendant's fingerprints on the gas can, fan and VCR rewinder were significant pieces of evidence for the State, as were the following; the Defendant's statement, the ATM photo, the victim's property and checkbook registry found in the Defendant's home,

the victim's blood-type found on the Defendant's clothing, and the school boy's identification of the Defendant. Specifically with regard to the ATM photo, he explained that he believed that to be "a fairly incriminating piece of evidence, stronger than much of the other State evidence." (R 639).

Mr. Erlenbach did not recall telling the Defendant that the State's case was strong or otherwise discussing the details of the case with the Defendant. (R 637). He explained that it was his general practice to avoid discussing the actual details of a crime with his clients. Rather he would review the discovery with the client and discuss with him ways to attack the evidence. (R 704).

With regard to the Defendant's videotaped statement to police, Mr. Erlenbach viewed the statement as the State's most damaging piece of evidence because, "it was largely a confession of at least felony murder." (R 640). He recalled only discussing with the Defendant having the statement suppressed. (R 645). Mr. Erlenbach did not recall discussing with the Defendant the option of allowing the statement to be introduced, thus offering an explanation to evidence which, if the statement were suppressed, would have remained unexplained.

In this regard, he acknowledged that the content of the Defendant's statement supported an independent act defense. (R 644). He also testified

that the Defendant's videotaped statement was consistent with the lefthanded murderer theory and that the confidential informant's statement would have strongly supported an independent act defense.

He did not pursue an independent act defense because he was focused solely on suppressing the evidence. He maintained that it was vital to keep the statement out of evidence, and as a consequence accepted that there would be unexplained pieces of evidence. (R 651-652; 656). He did not recall offering an explanation for the defendant possessing the victim's property.

### Mr. Erlenbach testified:

...The problem came, it was difficult to rebut many of those things and keep his statement out of evidence. It was a decision whether to keep the statement in, acknowledge he was involved and run the risk of felony murder.

As I said, I believe his statement was tantamount to a confession of felony murder, go that route or the route of trying to suppress as much evidence as possible and poke holes at the rest.

\* \* \*

Well, no, I think that it's—when you suppress his confession you're in a bit of a box in how to avoid dealing with the consequences of that. So the alternative would have been arguing that he was there, he was involved. I think in his statement he said he saw Ms. Sather tied up, I think. I can't argue he's not responsible for that which, under the felony murder theory is a harder sell than HL or some unexplained possession of property.

(R 654).

Mr. Erlenbach testified that he did not take the confidential informant's deposition at any time prior to trial. He felt that the confidential informant was not as important a witness as Alonzo Love, because the confidential informant's statement was hearsay. However, he acknowledged that confidential informant's statement constituted an admission and therefore, was admissible hearsay. He indicated that, in lieu of pursuing the confidential informant, he elected to take Mr. Love's deposition. (R 648-650).

At one point during voir dire the trial court refused Mr. Erlenbach the opportunity to rehabilitate a juror. Mr. Erlenbach testified that he believed that the trial court erred and he was confident he was going to receive a new trial. In this regard he stated, "I sat down after that and maybe even said to Susan the rest of this is practice, that was reversible error there. It turned out that it was for the penalty phase but not the guilt phase." (R 665). He further testified it was difficult to say exactly how this affected his presentation of the defense. He stated, "I cannot say that it did not affect things." (R 667).

Mr. Erlenbach testified that he considered the information he uncovered regarding Juror Clark's pending felony charges to be significant. He testified that he did not know about Juror Clark's pending charges at the time Juror Clark sat as a juror on the Defendant's case. He did not recall

knowing at the time of the Defendant's trial in 1991 that being under prosecution was a statutory disqualification. However he stated that, had he learned of the juror's pending charges during voir dire, he would have moved to strike Juror Clark for cause or would have used a peremptory challenge to remove him from the jury panel. He further stated that had he known of section 40.013, Florida Statutes, he would have challenged Juror Clark's eligibility to serve as a juror. (R 671-672).

He indicated that he would never have wanted Juror Clark to serve on the Defendant's jury. (R 673). He described Mr. Clark, a middle-class businessman entering PTI, as probably "the worst possible defense juror." (R 732-733). As to why he would strike a juror with pending charges, Mr. Erlenbach testified:

Well, a juror who has pending charges is clearly in a position to be biased in favor of the State, particularly somebody in Mr. Clark's position.

If I remember correctly he was a businessman and it was a business dispute that led to the criminal charges and a person in his position clearly has more to lose than many other folks who are charged with crimes and somebody in his position who is angling to get into a diversion program, a person who has not ever been charged with a felony before, perhaps never even been charged with a crime before. Certainly somebody in his position is very clearly—I wouldn't say clearly but likely very easily have a very strong bias for the State particularly in a case this serious. . . .

(R 692). He also stated:

If a juror, any juror had said I am being prosecuted now, I'm about to go into PTI—if I remember this testimony right he had not had time to sit on the jury, he had not received his letter saying that he was going into PTI. But had he said I'm being prosecuted by this State Attorney's Office that would have made a very significant difference and I would have moved to challenge for cause and stricken him peremptorily had the opportunity arisen.

(R 684).

Mr. Erlenbach testified that while preparing the initial brief in the appeal of this case to the Florida Supreme Court, he decided to investigate the other jurors as a consequence of the Neil<sup>3</sup> issue involving the State's having struck Juror Payne. (R 676). With regard to Mr. Payne, Mr. Erlenbach explained the State's position:

His argument was the jury questionnaire, the question is designed to elicit information on any prior charge against the defendant never made that known to us, he withheld that all along. He also offered in voir dire that he testified on behalf of the defendant on a drug charge.

\* \* \*

He failed to share any of this information with us during the course of voir dire and the questionnaire the Court handed out, he indicated that person should relate to us any sort of connection they may have had with the law and certainly if any charges had been filed against him.

(R 679). He testified that the State had urged that anyone with any involvement with law enforcement, particularly those with charges filed against them, should be telling the lawyers during voir dire. (R 680).

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984)

Despite this backdrop, Mr. Erlenbach failed to ask the jury panel questions regarding whether anyone had pending charges or had ever had charges filed against them. Mr. Erlenbach indicated that this question, if answered honestly, would have prompted jurors to relay this type of information. He acknowledged that he specifically did not ask Juror Clark if he had any pending charges. He therefore did not have any information regarding Juror Clark's pending felony charges and his referral to PTI at the time he was exercising challenges to the jury panel. (R 673; 680-681; 684).

Lastly Mr. Erlenbach testified that he did not retain any experts in this case. (R 618). Similarly he did not employ an investigator. (R 637). He further testified that he never considered the benefits of employing a fingerprint expert. (R 625). He agreed that experts can assist in developing cross-examination, suggesting areas that need further exploration and creating reasonable doubt. (R 685).

Susan Erlenbach testified that her involvement in this case was limited to assisting Mr. Erlenbach in the jury selection process. (R 753-754). According to Mrs. Erlenbach, Mr. Erlenbach questioned all the jurors during voir dire. She testified that had she learned of Juror Clark's status during voir dire, she would have strongly encouraged Mr. Erlenbach to strike him as a juror. She further stated that had she been the sole lawyer in this case,

she would have undoubtedly moved to strike Juror Clark from the jury panel. (R 757).

In this regard she testified that she absolutely would not have wanted a juror like Mr. Clark to sit as a juror on a criminal case. Specifically she stated:

Well, because regardless of what Mr. White's mind-set is Mr. Clark is going to know that Mr. White is the one making the decision in his case and that any point in time Mr. White can decide not to go through with a PTI contract. So Mr. Clark had to know that, he had to feel beholden to the State or least consider him baring himself in the State's eyes and particularly Mr. White's eyes.

(R 758).

Terry Sirois was hired by collateral counsel in 2003 to identify and locate the confidential informant. Based on her investigation, she testified that the confidential informant was an individual named Earl Chance who died in 1994. (R 1357-1367).

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the Defendant's conviction but reversed the sentence of death and remanded the case for a new penalty phase proceeding in 1994.

Attorney Dan Ciener represented the Defendant from mid-January 1995 until April 13, 1995 at which time James Kontos was retained by the Defendant. (R 980-981). Mr. Kontos had previously worked for Mr.

Ciener's law firm. In January 1995 Mr. Kontos opened his own law practice. Mr. Kontos testified that this was his first big case. (R 999).

In the five years Mr. Kontos worked at Mr. Ciener's office, Mr. Ciener had not conducted any death penalty proceedings. However, Mr. Kontos along with Mr. Ciener had tried one first-degree murder case. (R 1086). While involved in preparing various motions in death penalty cases, Mr. Kontos had never litigated a penalty phase proceeding. (R 976). Mr. Kontos had never observed any lawyer conduct a penalty phase proceeding, nor had he attended any death penalty seminars. (R 978; 1000). Mr. Kontos also testified that his co-counsel, Jeffrey Thompson, had no prior experience litigating a death penalty case. (R 977).

With regard to his educational preparation for this case, he stated:

A. I would say my preparation which would include reading case law regarding the death penalty, conversations with Mr. Ciener's office about the plan of attack that he was going to use in defending Mr. Willacy and a conversation at some point with Mr. Erlenbach regarding how he was going to represent Mr. Willacy and also a review of the trial transcript and death penalty phase that Mr. Erlenbach conducted.

I think I had—I know I had the Susan Schaeffer book at some point, I don't remember when I got that and I think I probably—

- Q. And that's Judge Schaeffer?
- A. Yes. And I think I probably had access to one of the death penalty seminar books although I can't tell you how much of that I

reviewed. I'm sure I reviewed some portion of it but I don't think I read it page by page, or not every page.

(R 978).

Upon taking over the case Mr. Kontos did not speak to Mr. Ciener, but rather spoke to Mr. Andy Fouche, an associate lawyer working for Mr. Ciener. Mr. Kontos testified that he asked Mr. Fouche "how they were going to defend Mr. Willacy." In this regard, Mr. Kontos testified:

[a]s best I can recollect and I don't remember all of the conversation but they were going to stipulate to the majority of the facts in what was originally the trial phase and present essentially the same or something similar to what Mr. Erlenbach did at his penalty phase.

(R 981-982). Mr. Kontos was unaware whether Mr. Fouche had reviewed the discovery or read the trial transcripts in this case at the time of this conversation. Mr. Kontos explained that he believed that Mr. Ciener's office had a defense plan, but stated that he did not "know how much they knew before they came up with a plan." (R 982). Mr. Kontos did not speak with Mr. Erlenbach until a short time before the penalty phase proceeding. He indicated that by that time he had already developed his defense, and this conversation would have had little impact on his trial preparation. (R 985-986).

Mr. Kontos testified that he was not very familiar with the use of experts. He indicated that he was influenced by Mr. Ciener's methodology

of not employing experts in that "there was not a great deal of comfort using experts because I just haven't done it." (R 998-999).

Mr. Kontos testified that his defense plan consisted of four parts:

- 1. factual mitigation which was essentially the mitigation previously presented by Mr. Erlenbach;
- 2. legally and/or factually attack the aggravating circumstances sought by the State;
- 3. preserved any and all error; and
- 4. residual doubt.

(R 987-988). As to residual doubt, Mr. Kontos testified:

. . . also wanted to aggressively cross examine the witnesses regarding the facts of the murder in order to try and create this perception that there might be, maybe he didn't do it or maybe there's this little glimmer of doubt in their mind as to whether he did do it and therefore even though you couldn't necessarily argue residual doubt a jury might think we're not 100 percent positive so we're not going to execute this individual or suggest that he be executed.

(R 988). Mr. Kontos testified that he hoped that he could convince the jury that maybe the Defendant had not committed the murder. He acknowledged that residual doubt was not a lawful argument. In this regard, he stated:

. . .I think I attempted to argue it in a way that I was legally allowed to argue it by trying to bring it in under the theory that he was a minor participant.

(R 988-989).

He explained that he did not approach this case from the premise that the Defendant had already been found guilty. Rather he stated that the

"whole purpose of cross-examining the [state's] witnesses" was to attempt to create an impression in the jury that "maybe this guy didn't do it. Whether legally they could presume that or not, factually they might." (R 991). In this regard, he hoped that the jury would disregard the jury instructions. (R 1090).

As to his strategy to preserve error, Mr. Kontos explained that as an attorney you can "look for areas of potential error and foster them" and try to "make sure" to "do everything you can to see that they are sufficient to be reversible or be as close to being reversible as possible." (R 993). He acknowledged that to plan on an ineffective judge<sup>4</sup> was not a legitimate legal strategy, but yet stated "there was certainly that hope, okay? I don't know if that was necessarily a strategy but it is certainly hope." (R 993; 995).

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