IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHADWICK WILLACY,

Case No. SC05-189

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion Argument I: in denying an evidentiary hearing on Claims IV, VI, and XV: issues regarding either Juror Clark who sat on the guilt phase jury or whether the clerk swore the guilt phase jury. court decided the Juror Clark issue on direct appeal, and raising the claim as ineffective assistance will not avoid the procedural bar. The issue whether the venire was sworn was also before this court on direct appeal and is likewise procedurally Furthermore, the issues have no merit. barred. This court held Juror Clark was not "under prosecution" and was eligible for jury service. The hearing at which counsel testified was not a trial but a post-trial hearing. The Erlenbachs testified favorably for Willacy, and there was no prejudice. Rich, clerk of court, testified at the hearing in 1992 that she did, in fact, swear the jury.

Argument II: Trial counsel was not ineffective because he did not pursue an "Independent Act" defense. Mr. Erlenbach testified that he followed a trial strategy of eliminating evidence and creating reasonable doubt. Mr. Erlenbach succeeded in suppressing Willacy's second, most incriminating, statement and the identification of John Barton. Present counsel would have Mr. Erlenbach admit the incriminating statement which would

be a confession to felony murder. The strategy followed was reasonable.

Argument III: Re-sentencing counsel was not ineffective for not moving to disqualify Judge Yawn. Counsel managed to create an issue on appeal, which he did. There were no grounds to disqualify the judge, and this issue has no merit. This Court previously held in this case that the mere fact that a judge sentences a defendant to death is not grounds to recuse him/her if the case comes back for re-sentencing. The issue raised is basically an attempt to avoid the procedural bar.

Argument IV: Re-sentencing counsel was not ineffective for failing to present negative evidence that Willacy is antisocial, was beaten as a child, had a drug-abuse problem and was thrown out of his parent's home, or other negative information. Counsel was trying to present Willacy as a life worth saving, a reasonable strategy. He presented a substantial amount of mitigation at the re-sentencing. Much of the testimony now presented was either denied by Willacy, contradicted by the State mental health expert, or cumulative to that which was presented.

Argument V: The issue regarding Juror Clark being "under prosecution" was decided by this Court on direct appeal. All issues regarding this juror should have been raised at that time. Therefore, this issue is procedurally barred. The issue

has no merit. Since Juror Clark was not "under prosecution," he had no responsibility to answer that he was under prosecution.

Argument VI: Lowrey v. State, 705 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 1998), was decided after Willacy's conviction became final. Even if Lowrey applied to this case, Lowrey is not a case of fundamental significance and should not be applied retroactively.

Argument VII: This issue has been waived for failure to file a timely notice of appeal. This issue is not properly before this court as it has never been appealed. Even if it were, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying DNA testing. The motion was insufficient. If the items were tested, it would not exonerate Willacy. The jury knew Marisa Walcott's (Willacy's girlfriend) blood type was the same as the victim's. Whether Willacy's epithelial cells may are present on clothing proves nothing.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON CLAIMS IV, VI, AND XV

Willacy takes issue with the trial court's denial of an evidentiary hearing on:

- (1) Claim IV that counsel was ineffective for failing to request independent counsel at the hearing on the motion for new trial regarding the Juror Clark issue;
- (2) Claim VI that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Juror Clark's ineligibility; and
- (3) Claim XV that counsel was ineffective for failing to object that the venire was not sworn.

Claim I. Juror Clark conflict issue. The trial court
found:

Under claim four, the Defendant alleges that his counsel was ineffective for waiving the appointment of an independent counsel to litigate the facts and circumstances regarding Juror Clark's pending felony charges.

On October 12, 1992, an evidentiary hearing was held on the Defendant's motion for new trial based upon the claim that Juror Edward Paul Clark, the foreman of the Defendant's trial in 1991, was under prosecution for grand theft in Case No. 90-16082CFA at the time he served on the Defendant's jury. At the evidentiary hearing, the Court was advised that Kurt and Susan Erlenbach, the attorneys representing the Defendant at the motion for new trial evidentiary hearing,

would be testifying as to matters that allegedly occurred during the Defendant's The Court expressed concern that trial. such action by the Erlenbachs might violate rule 4-3.7, Rules of Professional Conduct. (See Exhibit "E," pgs. 56-60). The Defendant waived an objection to his defense attorneys acting in the dual role of attorney and witness at the post-judgment, motion for new trial evidentiary hearing. (See Exhibit AE,@ The judge=s law clerk presented a p.61-63). memorandum of law on the subject to the judge, and the Court advised Athere appears to be no conflicts insofar as the matter raised by the Court are concerned so we will allow you to proceed." (See Exhibit "E," p. 64.) Thereafter, the direct examination of Kurt Erlenbach was conducted bу Erlenbach and the direct examination conducted Erlenbach was by Erlenbach. (See Exhibit "E," pgs. 63-68,119-124.)

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the Defendant must show both that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The Court finds that the Defendant failed to satisfy both elements, and this claim can be summarily denied.

First, no conflict of interest existed requiring appointment of an independent counsel at the evidentiary hearing. Rules 4-3.7, of Professional Conduct, provides that with some specified exceptions "[a] lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness on behalf of the client." In Columbo v. Puig, 745 So. 2d 1106, 1107 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) explained that the keywords in rule 4-3.7 were "at a trial" and that "a lawyer may act as an advocate at pre-trial (before the start of the trial) and post-trial (after the judgment

rendered) proceedings." Here, the motion for new trial evidentiary hearing was a posttrial proceeding. Therefore, no conflict of interest existed under rule 4-3.7, Rules of Professional Conduct. Equally important, Defendant has failed to show prejudice, where he fails to allege how the use of independent counsel would provided a different outcome. At the hearing on October 12,1992, Mr. Christopher White testified that he discussed with Mr. Mark Rappel during a break sometime during the trial about Juror Clark being in the Pre-Trial Intervention Program at the time or a being candidate for Pre-Trial а Intervention. Mr. White then testified that he approached the defense table and told either Mr. or Mrs. Erlenbach, or both of them, that he believed Juror Clark might be in the Pretrial Intervention Program. (See "E," p.101-102). Exhibit Mr. Rappel testified that Mr. White approached him in the courtroom after a lunch break after jury selection but early into the trial and informed that he believed Juror Clark might be in the Pretrial Intervention Program. Mr. Rappel testified that Mr. White immediately got up and went over and spoke with Mrs. Erlenbach about this. (See Exhibit "E," pgs. 115-116,118.)

Mr. Kurt Erlenbach testified that no one told him that Juror Clark was pending prosecution. (See Exhibit "E," p.65). Similarly, Susan Erlenbach testified that she never had a conversation with Mr. White regarding this issue. (See Exhibit "E,." p. The Erlenbachs' testimony favorable to the defense and all testimony at the hearing was under oath The facts would not have changed so how the outcome would have changed with the use independent counsel at the motion for new trial hearing who may have used a different strategy is inconceivable and speculation at best. Moreover, as previously discussed in detail, the Supreme Court of Florida concluded that the Defendant was not under prosecution for purposes of section 40.013(1), Florida Statutes (1991), so no prejudice was shown.

(R 2592-2595). First, this issue is procedurally barred since the new trial hearing was before this Court in the 1992 direct appeal. All issues regarding Juror Clark and/or a conflict of counsel were, or should have been, raised. This issue is procedurally barred.

Further, this Court addressed the Juror Clark issue on direct appeal and found that Clark was not "under prosecution." Willacy I. Second, as the trial court found, the hearing on the motion for new trial was not a "trial," so the Rule of Professional Conduct does not apply. Third, Willacy personally waived any conflict. (R62-63). Collateral counsel now argues the waiver of conflict was not voluntary, an issue not raised in the 3.851 motion. That issue is procedurally barred. Fourth, there was no prejudice to Willacy. Both Erlenbachs testified favorably for Willacy at the new trial hearing and claimed the prosecutor did not tell them Mr. Clark was in the pre-trial intervention program. Fifth, this issue is raised as failure to conduct an evidentiary hearing. This issue had a full hearing in 1992. At that hearing, the trial judge addressed the conflict issue and made findings. Any complaint with those findings should have been raised on direct appeal.

Claim VI. Ineffective assistance for failing to object to Juror Clark eligibility. The issue raised in the amended motion was failure to object to Clark's eligibility, not counsel's failure to use a peremptory challenge on Juror Clark. To the extent Willacy now argues counsel was ineffective for failing to strike the juror, that issue is waived.

Interestingly, Claim III in the Amended Motion Postconviction Relief was that the State failed to inform defense counsel that Juror Clark was in the pre-trial intervention program. This issue was the subject of the hotlycontested hearing motion for new trial in 1992, and should have been raised on direct appeal. However, at that time, the trial judge held that the State had, in fact, advised Mr. or Mrs. Erlenbach of Juror Clark's status. So now Willacy raises the issue as ineffective assistance because the trial court found in favor of the State. The fact remains that both Mr. and Mrs. Erlenbach testified in 1992 that Mr. White did not tell them of Juror Clark's status. In any case, this Court found in Willacy I, that there was no merit to the claim. Therefore, even if Willacy could show at this point that Mr. and Mrs. Erlenbach were told about Juror Clark's status, there is no prejudice because he was not "under prosecution," and eligible to serve.

The fact that trial counsel testified that in hindsight they certainly would have excluded the juror had they known his

status is not conclusive because the 20/20 vision of hindsight is not the standard. Strickland is the standard. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Strickland specifically cautions against the distorting effect of hindsight. This Court found in $Willacy\ I$ that Clark was eligible. This claim did not require an evidentiary hearing because, as the trial court found:

Under claim six, the Defendant alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failure to object to Juror Clark's ineligibility to serve as a juror. The Defendant contends that in failing to do this, defense counsel failed to preserve this potential reversible error for appellate review. On direct appeal of the judgment and sentence, Supreme Court of Florida held that Defendant was Anot under prosecution" and therefore, Willacy's motion for a new trial was properly denied." Willacy v. State, 640 2d 1079, 1082-1083 (Fla. 1994). The issue of Juror Clark's alleged ineligibility to serve was raised in the motion for new trial and resolved adversely to Defendant by both the trial court and the Supreme Court of Florida. Objecting during the trial to Clark's alleged ineligibility to serve as a juror would have preserved the objection for appellate review; however, no prejudice can be shown because the Supreme Court of Florida examined the issue of Clark's ineligibility to serve as a juror in the context of the motion for new trial and specifically determined that Clark was not under prosecution. If Edward Paul Clark was under prosecution, then Clark statutorily eligible under section 40.013(1), Florida Statutes (1991), to serve as a juror. Thus, under Strickland, even assuming arguendo that counsel's performance was deficient for failing to object to

preserve the objection for appellate review, the Defendant has still shown no prejudice to entitle him to postconviction relief on this claim.

Also, under claim six, the Defendant alleges that he was never informed by his defense counsel of Juror Clark's pending felony charges or his ineligibility to serve as a juror. The Defendant alleges that had he been properly informed, he would not have allowed Juror Clark to be a juror. However, aforementioned, the Supreme Court Florida determined that Juror Clark was not under prosecution, thus, he was eligible to juror. serve as a Furthermore, testified at the hearing Erlenbachs October 12, 1992, that they were not informed during the trial that Juror Clark had charges filed against him by the State of Florida; therefore, consistent with this testimony, they could not have told the Defendant something that they did not know about. (See Exhibit "E," pgs. 65 & 123). Accepting Judge Yawn's factual determination that the State did inform the Erlenbachs voir examination after the dire concluded but in the beginning of the trial that Juror Clark did have pending felony charges, and assuming arguendo, that Defendant insisted that Juror Clark not and the Erlenbachs remain on the jury refused to object, the Defendant still has shown no prejudice where the Supreme Court of Florida determined that Juror Clark was not under prosecution and thus, was eligible to serve on the jury. See Willacy v. State, 640 So. 2d 1079, 1082-1083 (Fla. 1994).

(R 2596-2597).

Every fact which needed to be developed on this issue was developed after the first trial when trial counsel discovered Juror Clark's status.

To the extent Willacy argues that Clark disregarded his oath, that issue was not raised in the Amended Motion and is waived. Further, the issue should have been raised on direct appeal. This Court found Clark was not "under prosecution," so this complaint is unfounded.

Claim XV. Swearing jury venire. The trial court found:

Under claim fifteen, the Defendant alleges that counsel was ineffective for failure to object to the failure to swear the venire prior to voir dire as required by rule Rules of 3.300(a), Florida Criminal Procedure. As mentioned above, the record shows that the venire was sworn pursuant to rule 3.300(a), Florida Rules of Criminal therefore, the Defendant Procedure; failed to of satisfy both prongs the Strickland analysis (See Exhibit "E," p.48). See Davis v. State, 848 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); Pena v. State, 829 So. 2d (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); Gonsalves v. State, 830 So. 2d 265 (Fla 2d DCA 2002).

(R2602).

As the trial judge held, this has absolutely no merit. In fact, in the trial court order for Claim XIV, the judge notes that Lucille Rich, the jury clerk, testified on October 12, 1992, that she did, in fact, swear the jury. (R2601-2602). The trial judge attached that hearing to his order. (R2677-79). Willacy's complaints about the jury being sworn outside the courtroom should have been raised on direct appeal since that evidence was before this Court at that time.

ARGUMENT II

COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE BECAUSE HE DID NOT PURSUE AN "INDEPENDENT ACT" DEFENSE

Willacy claims that his videotaped statement (which Mr. Erlenbach succeeded in suppressing) was evidence that another person committed the murder, and that Willacy was only present for the robbery but was not involved in the murder which happened after he left. This argument relies solely on Willacy's ambivalent and questionable account of events and is supported by no evidence. To the contrary, the theory is contradicted by the evidence: Willacy's fingerprints were found on the gas can and fan used to incinerate Ms. Sather, he left property to retrieve later knowing she was dead, her check ledger and personal property were found in Willacy's house, and he used the victim's ATM card. The alleged co-defendant, Carlton "Goose" Chance had an alibi which Mr. Erlenbach thoroughly explored.

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